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2019 AGM & Annual Lecture

Here is advance notice that LPNS will be holding its 2019 AGM on Tuesday 22nd October at Lancashire Archives. Following the formal business, our guest speaker will be Emeritus Professor John Insley, from Heidelberg University, LPNS’s Editor appointed by the English Place-Name Society. His title will be:

Place-names and their sources in medieval Lancashire.
Booking forms will be sent out nearer the time.
Committee News
We are sorry to announce that Chris Storey has decided to step down from the committee and as webmaster. We wish her well, and thank her for her very valued contributions over the years, not least for setting up and maintaining the website. Michael Prescott has taken over as webmaster, and we wish him luck too !

We are therefore looking for a new ‘Ordinary Member’ recruit for the committee. Any takers? If you’re interested, please contact your Newsletter editor in the first instance, as above. Thanks in anticipation.

From Botany Bay to Seldom Seen:

classifying minor names in Lancashire and Northumberland

Our guest speaker at the 2018 AGM, Professor Emerita Diana Whaley from Newcastle University, opened her talk by telling us that thinking about classifying names in various ways helps us to interpret and appreciate English place-names in all their magnificent variety. Part of the challenge is to be able to distinguish rare names from commonplace, and to consider their varying origins. For Lancashire, we do not have the luxury of Ordnance Survey Name Books, as students of Northumberland names do, as these were mostly destroyed during the Second World War.
‘Minor’ names are at the bottom of a toponymic hierarchy which begins with county, regional /forest names, then rivers and roads, hundreds, parishes, and finally ‘minor’ names and field names. All of these categories might contain names whose linguistic origin is pre-English (mostly Brittonic), Old English, Scandinavian, or Post-Conquest.

We might also categorise names by their grammar. There are simplex names such as Bury, and compound names composed of specific and generic elements such as Blackburn. There are affixed names such as Lytham St Anne’s, and dual names such as Grimsargh with Brockholes.

In terms of meaning, names may describe the landscape, or reflect the nature of landholding, the ‘stakeholder', or type of habitation – for example ecclesiastical ownership. But we need to be aware that the reason why a place was given its name may well have been lost over time, and the name might only survive in a linguistically altered, even garbled, form.
The great majority of place-names conform to standard structures. A very common pattern is that a 'primary', major name such as Barton (near Preston) gives rise to a cluster of 'secondary' names – Barton Hall, Lodge, House, Brook, etc.  In Preston, the evidence gathered by LPNS from the 1840s 6 inch to 1 mile OS maps is that there is a preponderance of compound names (approximately 385 out of 456; 84%), of which 105 are secondary names. A corpus like this allows us to study terms relating to topography (hill, bank, clough, etc.) and water (well, bridge, ferry, ford, etc.). Streams are most often called ‘burns’ in Northumberland, whereas 'burn' is rare and probably early in Lancashire, while 'beck' is found in Lancashire but not Northumberland; 'syke/sike' is found in both counties.
Another common pattern names minor landscape features by reference to an individual person, e.g. Ann's Pool or Old Ned's Stone, while farm-names consisting of a surname plus 's' (e.g. presumably Dixons, Walkers) is much more common in Lancashire than Northumberland.
This brings us to non-standard structures, such as 'verbal place-names' comprising whole clauses such as Beggar My Neighbour, Pity Me or Glororum (from “Glower [loom, overshadow] o’er ‘em”), which seem to be especially common in North-East England and lowland Scotland. Returning to the title of the talk, Seldom Seen refers, quite logically, to groups of rocks off Holme Island, Kendal and Milnthorpe. Prepositional names beginning with Above, Beyond, Back o' the etc. are widespread.
The great majority of place-names communicate something true about places; they could be called (in Daniel Chandler's semiotic terminology) 'informational'. But non-informational possibilities are sometimes shown by minor names and field names, some termed rather vaguely as 'fanciful', and these repay study. There are, for instance, ironic names, implying that somewhere is grand, fertile, or whatever, when in fact it is the opposite. Hough (2003) has written about ‘Bird halls’ in Lanarkshire – those named after owls, crows, larks, etc. These tend to be post-1600 foundations and modest houses, not gentry homes. Other dwellings are named ironically or incongruously but without reference to birds, such as Sod, Bog, and Cabbage Halls (there are four of the latter in Lancashire). There is a Lightpipe Hall in Northumberland. ‘Abstract’ names are a rare and quirky feature of Northumberland names – such as Steps of Grace, Hope, Conundrum, etc..
Botany Bay falls into a category called ‘transferred’ names. There are at least six Botany Bays in Lancashire, and it is unclear whether they celebrate Captain Cook’s first landing there in 1770, or are derogatory, referring to the penal colony founded in 1788. Other transferred names include Wapping (from the London dockland site, perhaps denoting a dismal place). Similar, but usually commemorating specific events, are names with Indian Raj, Napoleonic Wars, Crimean War, and Boer War connotations. Finally, Prof. Whaley thinks that the best name found so far is ‘Weasel in the Wall’ in Tockholes, in Blackburn with Darwen.

Answering a question about Scandinavian names, Prof. Whaley said that it was striking how little Norse influence was apparent in Northumberland names, compared with Lancashire.

Notes & Queries
NOG TOW, INGOL. Dr Bill Shannon is currently involved with a 'Memories of Ingol' project, in association with the Harris Museum in Preston. They have had a couple of well-attended sessions in the ward, and at both he was asked what Nog Tow (usually pronounced ‘Nog Toe’ by older residents) means. Now just the name of a roundabout, but in local people's memories a post office, it first appears as a farm house on the 6 inch OS map in 1844 (Sheet 60, NGR SD 506 330, see extract below). No earlier references have been located. One resident claimed she had been told it meant 'The Old Oak Tree' in Norse - which it clearly doesn't !

My (Editor’s) thought is that there are a number of Lancashire expressions listed under Nog in the English Dialect Dictionary http://eddonline-proj.uibk.ac.at/edd/index.jsp The Nog element is probably ‘wood’, maybe specifically ‘trees or timber’. ‘Tow’ seems to have had the same meaning as today, though there is an uncertain reference to 'beautiful'. So, is Nog Tow something to do with rope for pulling logs? Could it be a Rope Walk, or some such?
Or, of course, it might be the inspiration for Oliver Postgate’s and Peter Firmin’s Noggin the Nog  ! But seriously … whilst we all think of ‘noggin’ as being boxing slang for ‘your head’ (OED, meaning from 1769 onwards), it was previously an Irish English and – significantly – Lancashire and Cheshire word meaning ‘a small drinking vessel; a mug, cup, or ladle’ (OED 1588, in a will quoted by J.P. Earwaker, 1893). Could there be a link?
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CLARKES/CLARKS/CLERK'S/CLERKE'S HILL, PILKINGTON. Diana Winterbotham is puzzled by the recurrence of the name Clarkes/Clarks/Clerk's/Clerke's Hill. There are two examples of Clarkes Hill in Pilkington township, and no ecclesiastical connection as far as she is aware. She has also noticed a scatter of this name elsewhere. Some years ago, she made a note that the word ‘Clack’ could mean a hill, but can no longer find the source for this. Interpretation as a word for a windmill has no support in these instances. The two places so named in Pilkington are at the top of slopes or ridges, and are a high point on the ridge rather than a round hill.

Does anyone have any suggestions for either query ? If so, please send them to the Newsletter editor.
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DOWN T’RIVER, Part 2

Towards a Microtoponymicon for South-Eastern Preston
By John Garth Wilkinson

This is the second installment of a wide-ranging article, which LPNS hope to print in full over a series of Newsletters. 

Fishwick Bottoms (Fiscuic DB, sic OS 1849, 1893, 1895) OE *fisc-wic ‘place where fish is sold’ or ‘village where fish is caught’ (PN La, 146) + OE *boþm, botm (?or ON botn) ‘bottom, valley’ in a familiar type of plural referent to the haughs or meadowlands of the Ribble flood plain below Fishwick and east of the site of Preston Grammar School’s playing fields of the time. Why would fish be sold here not far above the Ordinary Tide mark (sic OS 1849)? Was there an early harbour of sorts just outwith and upstream of Preston, perhaps near Mete House? This is unlikely given the curve of the river, but there would without doubt have been at least one fishery on the river, probably several more: Fishergate, the main street of the old town leading up Fishergate Hill from the river, implies it was a significant local industry.
 There would likely have been buildings of variable permanence attached to each fishery, one possibly near where Fishwick Hall (Physick Hall 18th c
) later stood. Compare and consider Fishwick BWK on the salmon-rich Tweed in a very similar position, seven or eight miles upstream from the river-mouth at Berwick-upon-Tweed: lost now but for cropmarks, it was a mansio in the 11th and early 12th centuries, a possession of Coldingham Priory and thence attached to the Bishopric of Durham.
 Fishwick La was a manor in 1066 and member of the Amounderness lordship of Earl Tostig assessed at one ploughland. Until 1894 the township of Fishwick had always lain outwith Preston to its east, divided from it by the Swill Brook (shown on OS 1849 but vanished by that time: it rose near Ribbleton Hall), and its liminal position is suggestive. In his exhaustive survey of wick-names, Richard Coates (1999, 88) concluded that L vicus ‘extramural place for trading’, was a place ‘having some administrative autonomy whilst being dependent for certain purposes on a civitas or a fort or an imperial estate’ (ibid., 108) and that OE wīc, a development of it, was a ‘dependent economic unit’ in fact a ‘dependent unit of a particular, and therefore locally striking, sort’ (1999, 98). In the case of Fishwick, this would have been a dependent farm dedicated to what he dubbed ‘[h]arvestable wildlife’ (1999, 97).
 Noting continuity between Romano-British and Anglo-Saxon administration, more particularly in cases where wīc is the first element, perhaps naming what Latin-speaking Britons knew as vicus/vici (1999, 107), he reached the conclusion (after Margaret Gelling’s earlier work) that in generic terms wīc is a potential indicator of Roman sites (1999, 110). On what was Fishwick dependent? Apparently the tūn ‘enclosure > homestead > village > town’ (DEPN, sv.) run by the priests of OE prēosta-tūn or Preston (Prestune DB), evidently distinct from the Benedictines of Penwortham and earlier than the Savigniacs of Furness or the community of Franciscans or Grey Friars first recorded in 1260, who gave their name to the city’s Friargate. Could this dependent situation regress further? The pivotal importance of Preston’s location as regards trade and transport cannot be overstressed: its inclusion as one of the very few Lancashire place-names on the mid-14th century Gough Map tells us this, and the local tangle of modern motorways confirms and emphasises it. It sits by the junction of two former Roman roads, east-west from Ribchester to Kirkham (Watling Street: see Hunt 1992, 7) and north-south from Lancaster to Wigan (the later A6) and beyond in both cases: see I.D. Margary, Roman Roads in Britain, 3rd ed. (London: John Baker. 1973). Fishwick lies close to this ancient main route south, near the Ribble Bridge aka Walton Bridge, beside a former ford and across the river from Walton-le-Dale, now recognised as an important Roman site, not so much a fort (or Roman Fortlet as shown on OS 1961) but what seems to have been a ‘fortified port’, a civilian settlement perhaps used as a military supply base with easy access to the sea (Hallam c1984, 39–47). It cannot have been a vicus as there is no fort nearer than Kirkham’s, but might Fishwick have served as a vicus-surrogate to the ‘port’? While Walton’s site has been partially investigated, most notably by Ernest Pickering (Pickering 1956), no archaeological survey for Fishwick is traceable online. However, Hallam notes an intact late 3rd century mortarium, a food-processor and potential grave goods, found within Fishwick in a sandpit (Sand Pit shown on OS 1895 at [SD565301]) across New Hall Lane from the cemetery, half a mile north of the site of Fishwick Hall. ‘As Roman law forbade burials within towns, graves have often been found alongside roads outside towns’ and he therefore speculates on a Roman road or settlement nearby, perhaps with a connection to Walton-le-Dale or on a direct route to Ribchester, and suggests further investigation of the sandpit. Could this be another case of toponymics importantly leading the way for such an investigation, in this case nearer the river?








[SD563290]
We seem to be fixated on the notion of ‘Roman Roads’: roads constructed or enhanced by the Romans for reasons of military or social control, whereas we should maybe consider ‘roads used by the Romans’. A road being the swiftest, safest and most convenient way of getting from A to B, any road within the pre-existent British network would have been so used, and the earliest maps will show the best possibilities within a topography hardly changed over the millennia. Until the 19th c eastern Fishwick was cut off from Blackburn by the Ribble valley as far as wheeled transport is concerned, the only crossings of the Ribble being at Walton-le-Dale and much further upstream at Ribchester Bridge (Greenwood 1818), with eastward roads beyond both banks lying well above the broad flood plain with secondary roads off them wherever the landscape permitted. Nevertheless there appears to have been little difficulty from relatively early days for carts regularly crossing the river: the tenants of the township of Fishwick had rights of turbary on Penwortham Moss (Farrer & Brownbill 1912, fn. 28), a peat-bog perhaps remembered in Moss Lane, Hutton.
 There might of course have been a ferry, though only one for foot-passengers is recorded from Penwortham from 1338 onwards (Farrer & Brownbill 1911, fn 50), yet this demonstrates that private boats would have been able to cross with ease. Such a trans-Ribble relationship also implies now that Fishwick might have been dependent on Penwortham’s 11th century Benedictine Priory, but there is no solid evidence of such a relationship other than this slight hint: Penwortham’s relationships with other parishes were primarily south of the river: see ibid.
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OS 1895 i: Ordnance Survey 6 inch, 1895: Lancashire, LXI, SE (section)
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OS 1895 ii: Ordnance Survey 6 inch, 1895: Lancashire, LXI, SE (section)

ABBREVIATIONS

Brk

Berkshire




ME

Middle English

DB

Domesday Book




ModEng
Modern English

D

Devon





Nth

Northamptonshire

Fr

French





OE

Old English/Anglo-Saxon
He

Herefordshire




ON

Old Norse/Scandinavian

L

Latin





O

Oxfordshire

Lei

Leicestershire




PrW

Primitive Welsh

La

Lancashire




Sf

Suffolk

Mx 

Middlesex




W

(Modern) Welsh
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The Counties of Britain: A Tudor Atlas by John Speed (London 1995).

� A fishery is recorded in 1252, the moiety of which belonged to Roger Gernet (Farrer & Brownbill, 1912, 115). Fish House Bridge (sic OS 1849) on the Ribble at the south end of Penwortham Holme [SD527284], more or less opposite the foot of Fishergate Hill, suggests there were others, confirmed by earlier records in Farrer & Brownbill 1911 (see their footnotes).


� Which ‘shows the local pronunciation’ according to the 1912 editors (Farrer & Brownbill, 115). This was not current in the 1960s, according to my memory.


� � HYPERLINK "https://canmore.org.uk/site/59995/fishwick" �https://canmore.org.uk/site/59995/fishwick�, accessed 22 February 2018.


� Even today the Ribble is notable for its fish, both above and below the tidal limit, with barbel, bass, bream, carp, chub, dace, perch, pike, roach, salmon and trout (as well as eels) being among those recorded recently online (as of February 2018), many of them large.


� It is not clear to me where this was, evidently drained and (to judge by the neat array of fields) well arable by the time of OS 1849, when the nearest moss south of the river was Hesketh Moss.
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